IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00880

CANDACE D. PRICE

APPELLANT

VERSUS

Ü

į,

Ł

L

FILED

JASON LAGARRET McBEATH, JR

DEC 1 1 2007 APPELLEE

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

DARNELL L. NICOVICH ATTORNEY AT LAW P.O. BOX 1645 GULFPORT, MS 39502-1645 228 864-4002 MS BAR #

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00880

CANDACE D. PRICE

APPELLANT

VERSUS

JASON LAGARRET McBEATH, JR

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I THE CHANCERY COURT WAS WITHOUT PROPER SUBJECT MATTER OR IN PERSONAM JURISDICTION IN THIS CAUSE OF ACTION BECAUSE OF A COMPLETE FAILURE OF SERVICE OF PROCESS UPON CANDACE PRICE.
- THE CHANCERY COURT WAS WITHOUT PROPER JURISDICTION OR AUTHORITY TO PROCEED OR TO RENDER ANY JUDGMENT IN THIS CAUSE OF ACTION BECAUSE THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 81, REGARDING NOTICE AND SUMMONS TO A DATE CERTAIN WERE NOT COMPLIED WITH, THEREBY INFRINGING UPON CANDACE PRICE'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.
- III IN THE ALTERNATIVE, IN THE EVENT THAT THE COURT DID HAVE PROPER JURISDICTION, THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED IN AWARDING CUSTODY OF JASON LATRELL MCBEATH TO JASON LAGARRET MCBEATH, JR.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

This case was commenced in the Court below on October 26, 2004, when Jason LaGarret McBeath filed his Petition for Custody of Minor Child in the Chancery Court for the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi. Jason had previously been adjudicated to be the father of the minor child and ordered to pay child support in a separate action brought by the Mississippi Department of Human Services. (RE 5-8) In his Complaint in this cause of action, Jason requested that he be granted custody of the minor child, JASON LATRELL MCBEATH, a male child, born February 25, 2002, and that the mother, Candace Price, be granted reasonable visitation and ordered to pay child support, or in the alternative if not granted custody, Jason requested liberal visitation rights with Jay. The Petition further alleged that Candace was in basic training in the military, but would be temporarily returning to Mississippi, where she

could be served with process at her home, located at 315 Bayview Ave, Apt. 13, Biloxi, Mississippi. There was no Motion for Temporary Relief filed, either separately or as a part of the Petition. (RE 1-8)

Process was not issued to Candace at the time of the filing of the Petition, but on December 28, 2004, a Rule 4 Summons and a Rule 81 summons were issued to Candace, with an address of 330 Benachi Ave. Apt 118, Biloxi, MS. (RE 9-10, 11-14) The Rule 81 summons summonsed Candace to appear and defend against the petition at 9:30 a.m. on January 20, 2005. (RE 9, 11) Subsequently, on December 29, 2004, the summonses were returned, purportedly having been personally served upon the Defendant on December 28, 2004, at 330 Benachi Avenue Apt 118, Biloxi, Mississippi. (RE 11-14) However, Candace disputes the assertion that there was any service of process, and in fact, has continued to deny that she was ever served with a summons of any kind in the matter that is before the Court. (R 129-130)

On January 20, 2005, Jason appeared with counsel for hearing, but Candace did not appear. A Judgment was entered on January 24, 2005 granting Jason the primary care, custody and control of Jay, and reserving the issue of Candace's child support until such time as Jason can produce proof of Candace's income and further reserving Candace's visitation "until such time as Candace files the proper pleadings seeking said visitation." (RE 17-19)

Candace, through counsel, filed a Motion to Reconsider, or in the alternative to Set Aside the Judgment pursuant to MRCP Rule 60(b), and requested Rule 11 Sanctions, on February 23, 2005. In her Motion, Candace asserted that she had not been personally served with process, but that the documents had been left with her sister at an address other than Candace's residence address. (RE 20-25) (R 129-130)

Jason filed a Petition for Citation of Contempt and Other Relief, alleging that Candace was in contempt for failing to abide by the terms of the Judgment of January 24, 2007, by refusing to give Jay to Jason. Jason requested that Candace be incarcerated for her contempt and further requested that the Court enter another order granting him custody of Jay and assessing Candace with child support. This Petition for Citation of Contempt and Other Relief was purportedly served on Candace through her attorney, LaQuetta Golden. The clerk's docket entries reveal that no summons of any kind was either issued or served personally upon Candace on this Petition to cite her with contempt.

A Temporary Judgment was entered on May 31, 2005, and filed of record on June 2, 2005, on Candace's Motion to Reconsider and to Set Aside Judgment and For Sanctions, in which the trial Court reserved its decision on whether to set aside the January 24, 2005, but restored temporary "paramount and physical custody" of Jay to Candace, granted Jason specific periods of visitation with Jay, and ordered Jason to resume child support payments. The Temporary Judgment also ordered the parties to file UCCJA Affidavits with the court clerk, and ordered the parties to notify each other and the clerk of any change of address and telephone number. It further set the final hearing for August 10, 2005. (RE 46) The August 10th hearing was not held, and there is no record as to why. However, both Candace and Jason filed UCCJA affidavits with the court clerk on that date. The case was reset by the Court Administrator to September 9, 2005, but could not be heard on that date because of it being during the immediate aftermath of Hurricane Katrina. From the docket entries, it appears that there was no further activity in this case for more than a year until October of 2006, when the case was noticed for trial on January 17, 2007, and then re-noticed for trial by the Court Administrator for March 26, 2007.

Candace's attorney, LaQuetta Golden, filed a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel on March 19, 2007. (RE 66-67) An Order was entered on March 21, 2007 allowing Mrs. Golden to withdraw, and a second Order allowing her to withdraw was entered on March 26, 2007, the day of trial. The primary difference between the two (2) Orders is that the March 21st Order includes a sentence giving Candace [blank] days to find new counsel, with a blank space being left and initialed by the Chancellor, whereas in the March 26th Order, which was signed during a discussion on the record (R 4-5) the provision allowing Candace additional time to obtain counsel has been stricken through. (RE 68-69) In discussion on the record prior to the commencement of the trial, Candace agreed to allow Mrs. Golden to withdraw. In the same discussion on the record Candace appeared with prospective new counsel, Fred Lusk. Mr. Lusk advised the Court that he had been contacted on Friday, had not been able to obtain a copy of the file from Mrs. Golden's office because it had been destroyed in the hurricane, had not had the chance to review any file or to familiarize himself with the issues and was unprepared to go forward, representing Candace. Mr. Lusk also advised the Court that if he were allowed additional time to prepare for trial, he would represent Candace (R 4-6, 14-15). After a brief recess in which the Chancellor conferred with Mr. Lusk and Mr. Foster, in chambers, Mr. Lusk did not return to the courtroom, and Candance proceeded pro se.

Prior to commencing the trial, there was discussion between the Chancellor and Plaintiff's counsel as to what pleading was being heard, and it was determined that Mr. Foster was proceeding on the original Petition for Custody that had been filed in October of 2004.(R 15) During the trial, Candace indicated that she had not been aware that the case would be going forward to trial on the issue of custody, stating "Can I get another witness, Your Honor?

Like just not just ask somebody else to come talk because I didn't know we were going this far today." (R 77)

At the conclusion of trial, another temporary order was entered on March 27, 2007, granting Jason make up visitation with Jay until a decision could be rendered by the Chancellor. (RE 71)

A "Final Judgment" was entered on April 18, 2007, awarding custody of Jay to Mr. McBeath, granting visitation to Candace, and ordering her to pay child support to Mr. McBeath (RE 72-94) The Judgment does not address the issue of the defective service of process or Candace's Rule 60(b) motion per the reservation of Temporary Judgment of May 31, 2005. To the Contrary, in a footnote in that "Final Judgment" the Chancellor notes that she finds the issue to have been abandoned by Candace, because it had not been addressed again since May of 2005. (RE 73) However, there was testimony at trial, that the process was left at Tonya's home when Candace was not present (129-130); Candace re-asserted her claim that she was never served with process (R129); and the Chancellor acknowledges that there is a dispute as to whether Candace was in fact served. (R147)

It is from that Judgment, and the original Judgment of January 24, 2005 that Candace Price appeals. Notice of Appeal and Designation of the Record were filed on May 18, 2007.

B. FACTS

The parties, JASON LAGARRET MCBEATH (Jason) and CANDACE D. PRICE (Candace), were never married, but had a relationship that produced a child, JASON LATRELL MCBEATH (Jay), a male child, born February 25, 2002. Jason was adjudicated to be Jay's father in a separate cause of action brought by the Department of Human Services, and was ordered to pay child support on January 7, 2004 in Cause No. C2402-03-816 (3). (RE 5-8)

Candace claims that Jason has never paid his child support as ordered, (R 94-95, 136-137) and has not provided anything for Jay, other than a car seat and stroller. (R 120, 136-137)

Candace allowed Jason and his family to visit with Jay fairly frequently after Jay was born. Often Jason was not available, so his mother, Connie McBeath was allowed to have visitation with Jay. This continued until Candace entered the military. (R 29-31, 87)

Subsequent to the adjudication of paternity, Candace joined the U.S. military. Incident to attending boot camp, she was required to make provisions for the temporary care of her child. Candace chose to give her mother, Tonya Price, temporary guardianship of Jay, but did not give Jason proper notice of the temporary guardianship. (R 30) Jason, aggrieved that Candace gave Jay to her mother, albeit temporarily, took possession of Jay (R 79-80) and filed for custody of Jay by filing his Petition in the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District. (R 31-32) Thereafter, Jason complains that Candace would not allow visitation, and tried to thwart his attempts to have a relationship with Jay, allegations which Candace denies. According to Candace, she allowed Jason to have all visitation prescribed by the Court in its various orders, but was hesitant to allow Jason to have Jay at other times, in the absence of a Court order, because of the trust issues that had developed between them. (R 72-74, 115, 137, 142-146) The mistrust that Candace has for Jason stems in part from his filing this lawsuit and getting an order without her having been served with process, and also from the fact that he would not allow Tonya to take Jay to see Candace's graduation from basic training in October of 2004 (R 123, 146)

Jason is twenty four years of age and is in good health. He lives in Moss Point, Mississippi, with his wife and seven year old step son. Jason lives in a three bedroom home that was given to him by his mother, and is paid for. (R97) At the time of trial, Jason had a pit bull,

but the dog was ordered to be removed from the home before Jay could be placed there. Mr. McBeath was employed as a firefighter, and had held that job since 2006, with an income of approximately \$2,000.00 per month. Prior to becoming employed by the Moss Point Fire department, Jason held numerous different jobs, some of which were part time jobs (R 93-94) His wife is employed at the Biloxi V.A. as an x-ray technician. (R 34-39, R60, 65-66)

Candace is twenty three years old and in good health, other than a minor back problem. She is a food inspector for the U.S. Army and lives in Goose Creek, S.C. where she is stationed for military duty. Candace lives in a three bedroom home with her husband and their daughter, who was born on July 7, 2003. There are no pets in the home. Candace recently re-enlisted in the Army until 2011. She makes approximately \$3,000.00 per month. Candace's husband is a sous-chef at a retirement home, and is taking online courses in real estate and business management. (R106-108, 115)

Jay is five years old and is in good health. At the time of trial, he was attending Head Start, and was expected to start kindergarten at the beginning of the next school year. While in Head Start, which he enjoys, Jay is learning to speak Spanish in addition to English. (R138) He is an active child, and gets along well with his half sister and his step brother. (R 138) Jay has a good relationship with both parents.

Jason complained that there were several incidents in which he or his mother had to seek medical treatment for Jay. On one occasion, Jay had a burn on his foot from spilled coffee. A friend of the family who is an R.N. had looked at the burn and advised Candace as to treatment, which Candace was providing, including "that silver spray that you spray on burns and an ointment." (R 126) However, several days later, Connie McBeath, Jason's mother took Jay to Dr. Steven Fineburg, who prescribed a more intensive treatment over the course of two (2)

weeks. (R 40-44) As an infant and toddler, Jay ran fevers and had ear infections from time to time, and on occasion Jason's mother to Jay to the doctor's office or to the emergency room. Sometimes Candace informed Connie of the illnesses, and other times she did not, but none of the illnesses were extraordinary. (R40, R122) In addition to the typical illness of a small child, Jay had a black eye in 2003. Jay, is an active child and is prone to get scrapes, bumps and bruises. In 2003, he was running inside the house, and bumped into a bedpost, resulting in the black eye. (R 45-46, 124-127, 151) At the time of trial, Jay had another black eye, that was caused by a playground accident at Head Start, when Jay and another child, not paying attention, ran into each other (R151)

In addition to the above illnesses and accidents, the child was treated for ringworms and athlete's foot in May of 2005. Jason and Candace blame each other for the ringworms. Jason claim that the ringworms were discovered when Jay got a haircut, and had "dots in his head that looked like a Dalmatian" (R 50-51) Candace claims that she said she discovered the ringworms and the athlete's foot after Jay returned to her, having been with his father for a period of time. She took Jay to one of the physicians on base, who was treating him for or had treated him for athlete's foot, and that the physician advised her that the ringworms came from being in a house with animals. Candace has no pets in her home, although Jason does. (R50-51, 75, 140-141)

Accidental injuries occurred when Jay was in his father and/or grandmother as well. In one incident, a dog jumped in Jay's face and scratched him while in Jason and/or Connie McBeath's care (R56-57, 60) Significantly, at the time of trial, Jason had a pit bull as a pet, even though his mother had warned against it. (57, 66)

Jason complained of was an incident sometime in 2004 when both Jason and Candace arrived at the day care to pick Jay up and an argument ensued. The day car provider called the

police, who claimed there was a smell of marijuana in the car that Candace was traveling in. (R 20, 22, 69-72) However, Candace denies that there was any marijuana, and denies that she uses marijuana. (R25, 82) Similarly, Candace provided some testimony that Jason has also smoked marijuana. Although Jason denied marijuana use, Tonya Price was able to testify that Jay had returned from visiting his father and that his clothes smelled like marijuana (R121)

In addition to Jay, Jason's has fathered another child out of wedlock. (R82-84) He does not have any relationship with the other child and is pursuing one, although he is providing court ordered child support for that child (R 96, 102) The other child and Jay born within a couple months of each other. In addition to fathering those two children in the same time period, Jay was also dating his current wife when Jay was conceived. (R136)

In essence, the litany of complaints that these parties have against each other regarding the physical, financial, and emotional care of the child, and their respective fitness as parents, is endless. Notwithstanding the issues between the parties, there are major legal and factual issues regarding process, service of process, and the jurisdiction of the chancery court to proceed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Candace's primary argument is that the Chancellor was without jurisdiction to render any judgment whatsoever in this cause of action because of a complete failure to effect service of process upon her, either personally or constructively, and also because the summons, as issued, was fatally defective on its face. As such, all judgments rendered by the Chancellor in this cause of action from January 24, 2005 through April 18, 2007, are utterly void, should be vacated, and this cause of action should be summarily dismissed.

Further, Candace is aggrieved by award of custody of Jay to Jason, and argues that not only was the Chancellor without jurisdiction to render any Judgment, but that the Albright factors were not correctly applied or considered by the trial court, and that the award of custody to Jason was manifestly in error.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for domestic cases has been clearly established. The Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless there is an abuse of discretion, an erroneous application of law, or a manifest error. *Andrews v. Williams*, 723 So.2d 1175, 1176(¶ 7) (Miss.Ct.App. 1998). However, the chancery court's interpretation and application of the law is reviewed under a de novo standard. *Isom v. Jernigan*, 840 So.2d 104, 106(¶ 6) (Miss.2003).

Additionally, when reviewing questions concerning jurisdiction, the court employs a de novo review. Trustmark Nat'l Bank v. Johnson, 865 So.2d 1148, 1150 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2004); American Cable Corp. v. Trilogy Communications, Inc., 754 So.2d 545, 549 (¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The appellate court reviews jurisdictional issues de novo by examining the facts set out in the pleadings and exhibits to determine the propriety of the proceedings. Id at 549(¶ 7). See also Sorrells v. R & R Custom Coach Works, Inc., 636 So.2d 668, 670 (Miss. 1994).

I. THE CHANCERY COURT WAS WITHOUT PROPER SUBJECT MATTER OR IN PERSONAM JURISDICTION IN THIS CAUSE OF ACTION BECAUSE OF A COMPLETE FAILURE OF SERVICE OF PROCESS UPON CANDACE PRICE.

When Jason filed his Petition for Custody on October 26, 2004, he alleged that Candace was a resident of the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi, who was currently in the military and would soon be available for service of process at her home located at 315 Bayview Ave., Apt. 13, Biloxi, Mississippi. (RE 1) No summons was issued at that time, but was later issued. On December 28, 2004 a Rule 81 Summons was issued to Candace at 330 Benachi Ave. Apt. 118, Biloxi, MS, commanding her to appear and defend the Petition at 9:30 a.m. on

January 20, 2005, a mere twenty-three (23) days after the issuance of the summons itself. A Rule 4 Summons was also issued at that time.

Rule 4(d) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure designates who is to be served with process and by what means process can be complete upon a defendant, and it provides the following:

- (d) Summons and Complaint: Person to Be Served. The summons and complaint shall be served together. Service by sheriff or process server shall be made as follows:
- (1) Upon an individual other than an unmarried infant or a mentally incompetent person,
- (A) by delivering a copy of the summons and of the complaint to him personally or to an agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process; or
- (B) if service under subparagraph (1)(A) of this subdivision cannot be made with reasonable diligence, by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint at the defendant's usual place of abode with the defendant's spouse or some other person of the defendant's family above the age of sixteen years who is willing to receive service, and by thereafter mailing a copy of the summons and complaint (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to the person to be served at the place where a copy of the summons and of the complaint were left. Service of a summons in this manner is deemed complete on the 10th day after such mailing.

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