## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00880

### CANDACE D. PRICE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

#### VERSUS

### JASON LAGARRETT McBEATH

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellee, Jason Lagarret McBeath, certifies

that the following persons have an interest in the determination of this case. These

representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible

disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Candace D. Price, Appellant
- 2. Darnell L. Nicovich, Attorney for Appellant
- 3. La Quetta M. Golden, Former Attorney for Appellant
- 4. Jason Lagarret McBeath, Appellee
- 5. L. Arthur Hewitt, Attorney for Appellee

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

840 So. 2d at p. 107 (¶ 1).

The temptation may arise to view the May 31, 2005 as a motion hearing the purpose of which was merely to determine if the Judgment of January 24, 2005 should be set aside, and not a general appearance by Candace. This notion is easily dispelled, however, when, as pointed out above, it is remembered that as a result of that proceeding, the Court placed temporary custody in Candace and reinstated Jason's child support payments. At the very least, Candace's attorney was present and presented evidence to support the Chancellor's ruling. Again, the Temporary Judgment itself says as much. Had Candace's attorney restricted the scope of the hearing to the sufficiency of process for the prior hearing, perhaps Candace would not have risked waiver of that challenge to jurisdiction; however, as observed in *Isom*:

"Not only did Kelly's attorney appear, he introduced evidence at the hearing on Kelly's behalf..... This indicates that Kelly meant for her attorney to go forward in defending Jay's motion. Since Kelly's attorney appeared on her behalf and did not

object to the hearing being six days between the time process was served instead of seven, that requirement of Rule 81 was waived."

Id.

Candace cites *Schustz v. Buccaneer, Inc.,* 850 So. 2d 209 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) as authority for her proposition that the right to contest a court's jurisdiction based upon a claimed problem with service may be lost after making an appearance in the case if the issues related to jurisdiction are not raised at the first opportunity. This is indeed what *Schustz*, in part, holds; but, this decision goes a good measure further by concluding that a litigant's general appearance through counsel followed by a lengthy delay in contesting in personam jurisdiction can result in a waiver of the defective service of process. *Id.,* at p. 214-215. More to the point, Judge McMillain, writing for the *Schustz* Court, after noting that the concepts of "first opportunity" and "timely" were without clear definition in prior decisions, observed that:

"In other words, the issue can be framed as whether (a) a voluntary appearance followed by (b) a prolonged failure to affirmatively challenge the validity of the service may, in combination, constitute a waiver of the right to contest in personam jurisdiction in the same way that a subsequent affirmative act to defend on the merits without first challenging the court's jurisdiction is deemed a waiver of the jurisdictional issue."

850 So. 2d at p. 213 (¶ 4).

Jason submits that the facts of the present case could arguably fall within either of the two (2) scenarios described above. Bearing in mind that the issue of whether or not Candace was initially personally served with process was never decided by the Chancellor, there elapsed a period of time from February 23, 2005 until April 18, 2007 during which the challenge to jurisdiction was not pressed. It is true enough that Candace objected to jurisdiction by means of her Motion to Reconsider, or in the Alternative, Motion to Set Aside Judgment, and Request for Sanctions; however, it appears that upon entry of the Temporary Judgment of June 2, 2005 under the terms of which Candace was awarded temporary custody of Jay, the challenge faded into nonexistence. That is, Candace did voluntarily appear before the Court through counsel and initially challenge jurisdiction over her, but she did not thereafter affirmatively assert the objection in timely fashion. It is Jason's position that Candace's failure to seek a ruling on the issue resulted from the fact that Candace agreed with the Chancellor's ruling as made that day. On the other hand, at the hearing held March 26, 2007, Candace proceeded to defend herself on the merits *pro se* without raising the jurisdictional challenge beforehand.

The record shows that the following exchange occurred among the Chancellor, Candace, and Jason's attorney (R., pp. 14-15):

THE COURT: Okay. Now what we need to do is this: We need to see - - Mr. Lusk, if you have time on this case, you will represent her; is that correct?

MR. LUSK: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. It's just that you can't represent her today? MR. LUSK: No, ma'am. There is no way because I have not seen - - I did not even know it was a custody issue or even a visitation issue. I didn't know what it was.

THE COURT: Okay. I'm going to take a brief recess and talk to Mr. Lusk and Mr. Foster. I will be out in about 10 minutes.

(MR. LUSK DID NOT RETURN)

(RECESS WAS TAKEN.)

THE COURT: It's my understanding that Mr. Lusk talked to you - - we are on the record. Ms. Price - - and that you desire to go forward without representation; is that correct?

MS. PRICE: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Are you ready to proceed?

MR. FOSTER: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So, let's - - let's get the pleadings that are before the court today. And that's the October 26, 2004 petition for custody of minor child; is that correct? MR. FOSTER: That is correct, Your Honor.

The hearing proceeded during which Candace cross-examined Jason's witnesses (R., pp. 23-27, 54-60, 78-102, 104-105), gave testimony (R., pp. 136 - 145), called a witness to give testimony on her behalf (R., 119-129), and introduced tangible evidence (R., pp. 138-139, 153). Without question Candace appeared and participated in the trial without raising the jurisdictional issue, the only mention of which was the Chancellor's observation that the

issue had been reserved in earlier proceedings for subsequent determination by the Court. (R., p. 147). Candace's failure to pursue the jurisdictional challenge prior to going forward in the hearing cannot be overlooked simply because she opted to represent herself. This Court in *Chasez v. Chasez*, 935 So. 2d 1058, 1062 (¶ 3)(Miss. 2005), a case with similar jurisdictional concerns, stated the familiar rule in these words:

"A person electing to represent himself in a civil proceeding is bound by the same rules of practice and procedure as an attorney. *Bullard v. Morris*, 547 So. 2d 789, 790 (Miss. 1989). Mr. Chasez, claiming not to have been able to obtain a lawyer, began to defend himself before the court, and even brought his own motion, before ever objecting to the jurisdictional question. We are not required to address issues not objected to at trial and preserved for appeal. *Dennis v. Dennis*, 824 So. 2d 604, 608 (Miss. 2002). Because Mr. Chasez failed to raise the issue of improper notice at the show cause hearing, we find that it is waived."

935 So. 2d at p. 1062.

Mr. Chasez was the defendant in three (3) successive actions for contempt. Although the Court Administrator mailed a hearing notice to Mr. Chasez for the first hearing, he was not served with a Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 81 summons. Notwithstanding this oversight, Mr. Chasez appeared and stated his election to proceed *pro se*, and was found in contempt and incarcerated. After giving the Court his assurances of future compliance, Mr. Chasez secured his release only to be subsequently jailed a second time, at which point he challenged the jurisdiction of the Court asserting that he was not initially served with process for the initial contempt hearing. *Id.*, at pp. 1060-1061. Mr. Chasez perfected his appeal to this Court following his third incarceration for contempt. *Id.* The passage quoted above states this Court's ruling as to the jurisdictional issue, with the other matters included in Mr. Chasez's appeal, *res judicata* and attorney's fees, not germane to the case at hand.

Candace, very much like Mr. Chasez, chose to go forward at trial on the merit's, failing to first bring on her jurisdictional challenge; and, in doing so waived any perceived defect in the service of process upon her. She did so at her peril, resulting in the Chancellor deeming the jurisdictional challenge abandoned. (RE., p. 73). Jason respectfully urges upon this Court that such ruling by the Chancellor was correct, supported by the applicable authorities, and should therefore allowed to stand.

# II. THE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OF CANDACE PRICE WERE NOT INFRINGED UPON BY ANY PURPORTED FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH MISS. R. CIV. P. RULE 81.

This second issue presented by Candace is quite similar to the first, and in fact, elicits a response which parallels that given by Jason above. For the reasons discussed below, Jason asserts that this second argument by Candace should also fail.

No doubt exists that the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi was vested with subject matter jurisdiction to determine the custody of the parties' child. *Miss. Const.*, Art. 6, § 159. This article and section of our state's constitution recites that:

"The chancery court shall have full jurisdiction in the following matters and cases, viz.:

(a) All matters in equity;

(b) Divorce and alimony;

- (c) Matters testamentary and of administration;
- (d) Minor's business;
- (e) Cases of idiocy, lunacy, and persons of unsound mind;
- (f) All cases of which the said court had jurisdiction under the laws in force when this Constitution is put in operation."

This Court has long held that the equity powers of the Chancery Courts and its jurisdiction over infants and minor's business includes the authority and obligation to protect their interests and welfare by ajudicating custody matters. *Davis v. Davis*, 194 Miss. 343, 12 So. 2d 435 (Miss.) The Chancery Court's jurisdiction over custody matters is exclusive. *Chrissy F. By Medley v. Mississippi Dept. Of Public Welfare* (S.D. Miss. 1991) 780 F. Supp. 1104, *affirmed in part, reversed in part* 995 F. Fd 595, *rehearing denied*, 3 F. 3d 441, *certiorari denied*, 114 S. Ct. 1336, 510 U.S. 1214, 127 L. Ed. 2d 684. It cannot be said that the Chancery Court of Harrison County lacked subject matter jurisdiction of the custody dispute between Candace and Jason.

Candace's due process argument, with subject matter jurisdiction aside, appears to be based upon the fact that neither the Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 4 or Rule 81(d) summonses provided sufficient time within which to compel Candace's attendance before the Court. Candace offers *Bryant v. Walters*, 493 So. 2d 933, 938 (Miss. 1986) in support of her position that a judgment is only valid if the Court has jurisdiction of the subject matter, the parties and assures due process of law. Candace has correctly stated a portion of the *Bryant* decision; however, she omits the following observation by that trial court as contained in footnote 4: "A due process violation so gross so as to make the judgment void is extremely rare." (Citations omitted.) *Id.*, p. 938. Furthermore, the facts of *Bryant* show that the issue presented was whether or not an individual could be made liable for corporate debt on open account. The argument made by Walters, the debtor, was that inasmuch as he was not personally liable for his corporation's debt, a default judgment entered against him was void under Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 60 (b). This strategy did not succeed. Important here is that *Bryant* was not a case which discusses defective service of process or jurisdiction of the trial Court impacting on due process concerns. *Bryant* is not helpful in resolving the issues of the case *sub judice*.

Candace next proposes that a judgment rendered by a Court without jurisdiction is absolutely void and subject to direct or collateral attack without restriction as such judgment constitutes a misuse of power and amounts to an absolute nullity. In support she cites *Roberts v. Roberts*, 866 So. 2d 474 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), citing *Duvall v. Duvall*, 224 Miss. 546, 80 So. 2d 755 (1955). Again, with Candace's statement of these partial rulings, Jason concurs, but not with the applications of those authorities Candace attempts to make to this case.

*Roberts* involved a divorce filed by the wife in Tate County, Mississippi, the county of residence of the Robertses, which was answered by the husband with a counter-claim for divorce. The Chancellor denied either party a divorce but granted custody of the

parties' children to Mr. Roberts. Mrs. Roberts relocated to DeSoto County and re-filed for divorce alleging contested grounds. Mr. Roberts filed a waiver of process and entered his appearance. The DeSoto Chancery Court granted Mrs. Roberts a divorce, attaching thereto the decree the Tate County order and a property settlement agreement. Upon Mr. Roberts subsequently citing Mrs. Roberts for contempt for refusing to execute and deliver a quitclaim deed as set out in the property settlement agreement, Mrs. Roberts countered with a motion to set aside the divorce decree asserting that as venue was improper in DeSoto County, the divorce judgment was void. Id., p. 476. The DeSoto Chancery Judge declined to set aside the divorce, leading to Mrs. Roberts' appeal; and, this Court reversed, rendered and remanded the case. En route to its ruling, this Court did indeed recite the language mentioned above and relied upon by Candace that judgments rendered by courts without jurisdiction are void. The contexts from which these prior decisions were emanated, however, were and are completely different from that presented here. As discussed above, Roberts concerned the purposeful filing of a divorce action in the wrong county. The issue on appeal in *Duvall* was whether or not a Chancery Court had subject matter jurisdiction to enter a decree entitling the wife to a portion of the husband's personal property when the original suit was for separate maintenance only. Id., at pp. 552-553. This Court recognized in *Duvall* that the Chancery Court certainly was empowered with jurisdiction to hear and determine the separate maintenance issue and could proceed

to determine such other matters, legal or equitable, necessary to resolve the entire controversy. *Id.*, at p. 755. *Duvall* is a potent and enduring discussion of the subject matter jurisdiction of the Chancery Courts, but nothing said in *Duvall* pertains to a denial of due process arising from a purported defective service of process. As discussed above, the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi undeniably held subject matter jurisdiction of the custody dispute between these litigants. Nothing in *Duvall* holds otherwise.

Candace's position is untenable. In sum, she maintains that due to the defective service of process, an issue never determined by the Chancellor, results in the trial Court not having *in personam* or subject matter jurisdiction amounting to a denial to her of rights to be afforded due process. As stated, the subject matter issue is without merit. The plain fact that Candace did not seek a ruling on the issue of personal jurisdiction prior to proceeding *pro se* on March 26, 2007 constitutes a waiver of that particular jurisdictional challenge.

A recent decision of this Court affording guidance is *Venagas v. Garganus*, 911 So. 2d 562, 568 (¶ 5)(Miss Ct. App. 2005). There, the unmarried parents of a child became embroiled in a paternity action filed by the father. The mother maintained that she and the child were residents of Louisiana, and that she was not properly served due to a return of service nor being of record. Venegas, the mother filed a motion to dismiss for lack of

subject matter and *in personam* jurisdiction. The record did not contain an order reflecting a decision regarding the motion to dismiss. At trial on the paternity action, the jurisdictional challenge was not raised. This Court, citing *Dennis, supra.*, observed that because the party challenging service of process did not raise the issue at trial, the issue could not be considered on appeal. *Id.*, at p. 611, and cited several decisions in which a similar result was reached. Striking directly to the heart of the issue is the following observation made in *Venegas*, citing *Cossitt v. Alfa Insurance Corp.*, 726 So. 2d 132, 135 (Miss. 1998):

"The affirmative duty rests upon the party filing the motion to follow up his action by bringing it to the attention of the trial court." Cossitt I, 541 So. 2d at 446. A motion that is not ruled upon is presumed abandoned. (Citations omitted).

911 So. 2d at p. 568 (¶ 5).

The Venegas Court, in affirming the Chancellor's ruling. concluded that:

"Since it was Venagas' duty to follow up her motion and ensure that the court ruled on the motion, we find that her allegations the court erred by not resolving the matter through order or opinion are without merit." *Id.* ( $\P$  6).

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